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NO. 21-1262 
__________________________________________________________________ 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS  
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CIRCUIT 

_____________________________________________ 
 
NORMAN CLEMENT, 
 
 Petitioner,   
 
v. 
 
DRUG ENFORCEMENT ADMINISTRATION, 
 
 Respondent. 
__________________________________________________________________ 
 

RESPONDENT’S OPPOSITION TO PETITIONER’S 
DISPOSITIVE MOTION AND MOTION TO AMEND INDEX OF RECORD 
 
 Respondent, through its undersigned attorney hereby respectfully opposes 

“Petitioner’s Dispositive Motion To Vacate Administrative Judges Findings and 

DEA Administ[rato]r’s Orders, Restore CSA Registration of Pronto Pharmacy 

LLC An[d] Award Damages, Amend Index of Record” (Motion for Summary 

Reversal). For the reasons below, this Court should deny the motion. 

I. JURISDICTION 

Petitioner Norman Clement, who is pro se, has petitioned for review of the 

final Decision and Order by the Administrator of the Drug Enforcement 

Administration (DEA) revoking the Certificate of Registration (registration) that 

authorized Pronto Pharmacy, LLC, to dispense controlled substances. The agency 
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had jurisdiction under 21 U.S.C. § 824(a) (2018) and 28 C.F.R. § 0.100(b).1 This 

Court has jurisdiction under 21 U.S.C. § 877. The administrative decision was 

published on November 18, 2021. Pronto Pharmacy, LLC; Decision and Order, 86 

Fed. Reg. 64,714 (November 18, 2021). Petitioner filed a timely petition for review 

in this Court and has now filed a motion seeking summary reversal.2 ECF 

Document Nos. 1926924 and 1933558. 

II. PROCEDURAL AND FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

 On August 23, 2019, the DEA issued an Order to Show Cause and 

Immediate Suspension of registration to Pronto Pharmacy, LLC, suspending the 

DEA registration authorizing it to dispense controlled substances in schedules II 

through V3 and proposed its revocation and denial of any pending applications for 

renewal, because Pronto Pharmacy, LLC’s continued registration was “inconsistent 

with the public interest.” (citing 21 U.S.C. §§ 824(a)(4) and 823(f)). 86 Fed. Reg. 

at 64,714, 64,726. Norman Clement (Petitioner) is the owner and pharmacist-in-

 
1 The Attorney General has delegated the statutory authority relevant here to the 

DEA Administrator. 
2 In addition to being meritless, Petitioner’s 50-page motion exceeds the length 

limits of Fed.R.App.P. 27(d)(2)(A) restricting a motion to 5,200 words. 
3 The Controlled Substances Act (CSA) establishes five schedules of controlled 

substances according to a substance’s relative abuse potential, currently accepted 
medical use in treatment in the United States and the severity of psychological or 
physical dependence associated with abuse. See 21 U.S.C. § 812 (current substance 
list by schedule printed annually at 21 C.F.R. § 1308.11 - .15). Substances in lower 
schedules have a higher relative abuse potential and, generally, are subject to 
stricter controls. Pharmaceutical drugs are in schedules II-V. 
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charge of Pronto Pharmacy, LLC. Id. at 64,727, 64,743. The Government obtained 

the immediate suspension and sought revocation based on allegations that 

Petitioner had repeatedly filled prescriptions for controlled substances despite 

obvious red flags of drug abuse and diversion in violation of federal and state law 

and had engaged in the manufacture of controlled substances without the 

appropriate DEA registration. Id. at 64,714. 

Following additional prehearing procedures, an Administrative Law Judge 

conducted an administrative hearing in Tampa, Florida on January 28-29, 2020. 

Ibid. The Government presented documentary evidence and the testimony of a 

DEA Diversion Investigator, a former task force officer, and an expert witness. Id. 

at 64,716. Petitioner presented only the testimony of Norman L. Clement, Jr., a 

pharmacy technician and son of Petitioner Norman Clement. Id. at 64,724-25. 

The evidence established that Petitioner repeatedly filled controlled 

substances prescriptions for eleven customers that raised numerous red flags of 

drug abuse and diversion. Id. at 64,737. These red flags included early fills, long 

distances traveled, cash payments, dangerous drug cocktails, and high-strength 

narcotics. Ibid. The Government’s expert witness offered credible and unrebutted 

testimony that, for each of these eleven customers, these red flags could not have 

been resolved by a reasonable pharmacist acting within the usual course of his 

professional practice. Ibid. By filling these prescriptions, Petitioner violated his 
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corresponding responsibility and filled prescriptions outside the usual course of 

professional practice, in violation of 21 CFR §§ 1306.04 and 1306.06. Ibid. 

Additionally, Petitioner violated Florida law, which requires pharmacists to 

“exercise[ ] sound professional judgment,” to conduct a prospective drug use 

review before dispensing a controlled substance, and to take appropriate steps to 

avoid or resolve problems with the prescriptions. Fla. Admin. Code rs. 64B16-

27.831, 64B16-27.810. Ibid. 

Further, the evidence established that Petitioner’s registration as a retail 

pharmacy did not permit it to manufacture controlled substances by compounding 

oxycodone and hydromorphone capsules from powder in such large quantities and 

without an individualized therapeutic need and that this activity constituted 

manufacturing rather than permissible compounding for individual patients. 86 

Fed. Reg. at 64,738. 

 Petitioner never admitted any wrongdoing, accepted responsibility for the 

proven violations, or offered any evidence of remediation. 64,743.  

 After the hearing, the Administrative Law Judge issued his Findings and 

Recommended Decision and made findings with respect to each of the five public 

interest factors set forth at 21 U.S.C. § 823(f). Id. at 64,741. The Administrative 

Law Judge found that the Government had established a prima facie case that 

Petitioner had committed acts inconsistent with the public interest, and he 
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recommended revocation of Petitioner’s registration. Id. at 64,745. Upon a full 

record review, the DEA Administrator adopted the Administrative Law Judge’s 

Recommended Decision with minor modifications and revoked petitioner’s 

registration. Id. at 64,714, 64,746.  

III. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

 A. The applicable regulatory framework and the administrative case 
proceedings 

 
The CSA establishes a “comprehensive regime” with the main objectives of 

“conquer[ing] drug abuse and … control[ling] legitimate and illegitimate traffic in 

controlled substances.” Gonzales v. Raich, 545 U.S. 1, 12 (2006). “Congress was 

particularly concerned with the need to prevent the diversion of drugs from 

legitimate to illegitimate channels.” Id. at 12-13. Congress therefore “devised a 

closed regulatory system making it unlawful to manufacture, distribute, dispense, 

or possess any controlled substance except in a manner authorized by the CSA.” 

Id. at 13. 

All persons in the “legitimate distribution chain” of controlled substances 

must be registered with the DEA under criteria set forth in 21 U.S.C. § 823. See 

H. Rep. 91-1444 (1970), reprinted in 1970 U.S.C.C.A.N. 4566, 4589. Under the 

CSA and its regulations, a pharmacy is a registrant, and a pharmacist employed by 

a registered pharmacy may fill prescriptions issued by individual practitioners, 

such as physicians. 21 C.F.R. § 1306.03; 21 U.S.C. § 802(10) (defining 
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dispensing). Pursuant to 21 C.F.R. § 1306.04, “[a] prescription for a controlled 

substance to be effective must be issued for a legitimate medical purpose by an 

individual practitioner acting in the usual course of his professional practice.” A 

“corresponding responsibility” for proper controlled substance prescribing and 

dispensing “rests with the pharmacist who fills the prescription.” Ibid. 

In addition, Florida pharmacists violate both Florida law and federal law, 

specifically 21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a), when “they fail to identify and resolve the red 

flags that are part of the prospective drug use review set forth in Rule 64B16-

27.810” and subsequently “knowingly fill prescriptions without resolving these red 

flags during this review.” See, e.g., Trinity Pharmacy II, 83 Fed. Reg. 7,304, 7,329 

(July 28, 2016). Florida law requires that pharmacists “review the patient record 

and each new and refill prescription presented for dispensing” for the purpose of 

identifying “[o]ver-utilization or under-utilization,” “[t]herapeutic duplication,” 

“drug-drug interactions,” “[i]ncorrect drug dosage or duration of drug treatment,” 

and “[c]linical abuse/misuse.” Fla. Admin. Code Ann. r. 64B16-27.810(1). Should 

a pharmacist recognize any of the aforementioned red flags, Florida law mandates 

that he “take appropriate steps to avoid or resolve the potential problems which 

shall, if necessary, include consultation with the prescriber.” Id. r. 64B16-

27.810(2). Furthermore, Florida pharmacists must meet the minimum standard of 

care for filling prescriptions for controlled substances, which includes, in part, 
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“exercis[ing] sound professional judgment” and “attempt[ing] to work with the 

patient and the prescriber to assist in determining the validity of the prescription.” 

See id. r. 64B16-27.831. 

The DEA Administrator may revoke a registration if she determines that the 

Registrant has committed such acts as would render its registration “inconsistent 

with the public interest.” 21 U.S.C. §§ 823(f), 824(a)(4). In determining the public 

interest, the Administrator considers evidence bearing on five statutory factors: 

(1) The recommendation of the appropriate state licensing board or 
professional disciplinary authority. 

(2) The applicant’s experience in dispensing, or conducting research with 
respect to controlled substances. 

(3) The applicant’s conviction record under Federal or State laws relating 
to the manufacture, distribution, or dispensing of controlled substances. 

(4) Compliance with applicable State, Federal, or local laws relating to 
controlled substances. 

(5) Such other conduct which may threaten the public health and safety. 

21 U.S.C. § 823(f). 86 Fed. Reg. at 64,741. 

 B. The standard for summary disposition 

 This Court rarely grants summary reversal and has held it is appropriate only 

where the merits are “so clear, plenary briefing, oral argument, and the traditional 

collegiality of the decisional process would not affect [the Court’s] decision.” Sills 

v. Federal Bureau of Prisons, 761 F.2d 792, 793-94 (D.C. Cir. 1985); see 

Taxpayers Watchdog, Inc. v. Stanley, 819 F.2d 294, 297 (D.C. Cir. 1987) (per 
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curiam) (Summary reversal is rarely granted.); see “Handbook of Practice and 

Internal Procedures, United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia 

Circuit, at 36 (2021) (providing in § VIII.G. for motions for summary disposition); 

cf. Cascade Broadcasting Group, 35 Ltd. v. FCC, 822 F.2d 1172, 1174 (D.C. Cir. 

1987) (per curiam) (Summary affirmance is appropriate where the merits are so 

clear as to justify summary action.)  

 C. Petitioner Fails to Satisfy the Standard for Summary Reversal 

 Petitioner’s Motion, asserting that the revocation of Pronto Pharmacy’s 

registration is unsupported by sufficient evidence, unwarranted in law, and a 

deviation from DEA precedent without explanation, is without merit and should be 

denied. Motion at pp. 10, 24-47. Petitioner’s argument is fundamentally flawed 

because he misstates the basis for the sanction, as well as misapprehends the 

totality of the evidence introduced in the administrative proceedings and this 

Court’s standard of review. 

The Administrative Procedure Act sets forth the procedure for judicial 

review of agency action. See 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A). This Court “liberally defer[s] 

to the [DEA]’s findings of fact, upholding facts supported by substantial 

evidence.” Morall v. DEA, 412 F.3d 165, 173-74 (D.C. Cir. 2005); see 21 U.S.C. 

§ 877; Masters Pharm., Inc. v. DEA, 861 F.3d 206, 215 (D.C. Cir. 2017) (“The 

substantial evidence test is highly deferential to the factfinder, requiring only such 
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evidence that a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.” 

(quotation marks and citations omitted)). 

A court may set aside the DEA’s final agency decision imposing a sanction 

only if the decision is “arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise 

not in accordance with the law.” 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A). Under this standard, “[t]he 

scope of review is narrow and a court is not to substitute its judgment for that of 

the agency.” Associated Builders & Contractors, Inc v. Shiu, 773 F.3d 257, 264 

(D.C. Cir. 2014) (quoting Motor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass’n of the United States v. State 

Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co, 463 U.S. 29, 42 (1983)). The agency prevails when it has 

“examine[d] the relevant data and articulate[d] a satisfactory explanation for its 

action including a rational connection between the facts found and the choice 

made.” Ibid.; MD Pharmaceutical v. DEA, 133 F.3d 8, 16 (D.C. Cir. 1998). 

 Moreover, Petitioner fails to address the DEA’s independent finding that 

continuing his registration is inconsistent with the public interest, pursuant to 21 

U.S.C. § 823(f). The record evidence well supports the finding that Petitioner 

violated the CSA by filling prescriptions for at least eleven patients that raised red 

flags of drug abuse and/or diversion including early fills, traveling between two 

and five hundred miles round trip, cash payments, dangerous combinations of 

high-strength narcotics and benzodiazepines, and high-strength schedule II opioids, 

among others. 86 Fed. Reg. 64,737, 64,742-44. Petitioner violated his 
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corresponding responsibility and filled prescriptions outside the usual course of 

professional practice, in violation of federal and state law. Ibid. Moreover, the 

unrebutted expert testimony established that Petitioner’s compounding of 

controlled substances was not in the usual course of professional practice. Id at 

64,738. The Administrator discussed the egregious nature of Petitioner’s 

misconduct and concluded that revocation was essential to protect the public 

interest under 21 U.S.C. § 823(f). Id at 64,744.  

 Where, as here, an agency has been entrusted with the task of fitting the 

remedy for a violation of a statute to the policy of the statute, this Court does not 

set aside the agency’s choice of remedy unless it is “unwarranted in law or without 

justification in fact.” Butz v. Glover Livestock Commissions Co., Inc., 411 U.S. 

182, 185-86, 188 (1973). Revocation of a registration is one of the legally 

authorized remedies available to the Administrator if the registration of the person 

or entity would be “inconsistent with the public interest.” See 21 U.S.C. 

§ 824(a)(4); §823(f). So long as the Administrator’s public interest determination 

is upheld, her decision as to remedy is sustainable on appeal. 

 The Administrator’s choice of remedy in the instant case is consistent with 

existing case law. The DEA “rationally may conclude that past performance is the 

best predictor of future performance,” and it is not required to permit continued 
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violations of the CSA. Alra Laboratories, Inc. v. DEA, 54 F.3d 450, 452 (7th Cir. 

1995). Petitioner has failed to establish a basis for summary reversal. 

 D. There is No Basis to Amend the Certified Index of the Record 

 Petitioner’s Motion also requests this Court to Amend the Certified Index of 

the Record by including his personal blog at youarewithinthenorms.com. Pet. 

Motion at pp. 1, 47-48. This request has no basis in law or fact and should be 

denied.  

On January 27, 2022, undersigned counsel filed the Certified Index to 

Record pursuant to Fed.R.App.P. 17(b)(1)(B). ECF Document No. 1932605. In 

accordance with Fed.R.App.P. 16, the Index listed the following: (1) the order 

involved; (2) any findings or reports on which it is based; and (3) the pleadings, 

evidence, and other parts of the proceedings before the agency. The personal blog 

Petitioner now submits was not introduced as evidence and is not part of the 

agency record.  

During the administrative hearing the Government introduced rebuttal 

testimony from the Diversion Investigator. 86 Fed. Reg. at 64,726 citing Tr. 559-

60, 563-64. The Diversion Investigator testified about a blog post authored by 

Petitioner containing a copy of the Government’s prehearing statement in the case. 

86 Fed. Reg. at 64,726 citing Tr. 565. Neither the hard-copied blog post nor 

attachment were admitted into evidence; only the oral testimony of the Diversion 
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Investigator reading Petitioner’s handwritten notes on the prehearing statement that 

had been posted on the blog. 86 Fed. Reg. at 64,726 citing. Tr. 567. Accordingly, 

there is no basis to include non-record evidence in the Certified Index. See 

Fed.R.App.P. 16(3). 

CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, Petitioner fails to establish that the merits of the 

parties’ position are so clear as to warrant summary action in his favor or that the 

Certified Index should be amended. As a result, this Court should deny his motion.  

    

      Respectfully submitted, 

 
       /s/ Anita J. Gay                      

Anita J. Gay,  
      Trial Attorney 
      U.S. Department of Justice 
      Criminal Division 
      Narcotic and Dangerous Drug Section 
      145 N Street, N.E., Suite 2E-300  
      Washington, DC 20002 
      Telephone:   (202) 353-7629 
      Facsimile:   (202) 514-6112 
      E-mail:   anita.gay2@usdoj.gov 
 

Dated: February 14, 2022 
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CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH TYPE 
AND VOLUME LIMITATIONS 

 
I hereby certify that the foregoing Response to Petitioner’s Dispositive 

Motion was prepared in 14 point proportionally spaced Times New Roman type in 

Microsoft Word 2013 and that the response contains 2,726 words. The notice 

complies with the requirements of Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure 

27(d)(2)(A) and 32(a)(5).  

 

/s/ Anita J. Gay  
Anita J. Gay 
Trial Attorney 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I hereby certify that I electronically filed the foregoing, Respondent’s 

Opposition to Petitioner’s Dispositive Motion and Motion to Amend Index of 

Record, with the Clerk of the Court for the United States Court of Appeals for the 

District of Columbia Circuit by using the appellate CM/ECF system on February 

14, 2022. I certify further that Petitioner is pro se, is not a registered CM/ECF user, 

and that, pursuant to his consent as required by Fed.R.App.P. 25(c)(2)(B), service 

will be accomplished by electronic mail to Norman Clement at ywtn@umich.edu, 

on February 14, 2022. 

       

       /s/ Anita J. Gay                      
      Anita J. Gay 
      Trial Attorney 
      U.S. Department of Justice 
      Criminal Division 
      Narcotic and Dangerous Drug Section 
      145 N Street, N.E., Suite 2E-300  
      Washington, DC 20002 
      Phone: (202) 353-7629 
      Fax:     (202) 514-6112 

anita.gay2@usdoj.gov    
   

 
Dated: February 14, 2022 
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